THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
Honorable Roger M. Young, Circuit Court Judge

Tracy Smith V. Jonathon Kessler

Circuit Court Civil Action Number: 2015-CP-10-6820

Appellate Case No. 2017-001766

RECEIVED
DEC 28 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Tracy Smith.....Appellant

v.

Jonathon KesslerRespondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Tracy Smith
c/o 4351 Park Island Road
Hollywood, SC 29449
318 233 8572
Pro Se Appellant

Scott Wallinger
1330 Lady Street, Sixth Floor
Columbia, SC 29201
Attorney for Respondent

Contents

Statement of the Case.....5

LEGAL SOURCES AND EXCERPTS11

Statement of the Case

Tracy Smith (“Smith”) is an IT Systems Engineer who was previously employed by Showa Denko as a Systems Engineer responsible for hardware and software systems. Defendant Jonathon Kessler (“Kessler”) described Showa Denko as a “Long-Time Client”. Smith’s duties included administration and troubleshooting of hardware and software, rewriting major parts of the Carbon Electrode Shipping process to correct errors in the legacy customer data sheet system previously implemented by Greg Spires; maintenance of hardware and software for testing, quality control, and environmental compliance systems, backup of various hardware systems, and researching of hardware and software solutions required for environmental sound monitoring as requested by John Wing.

Smith is a Finance Major who also earned the Microsoft Certified Systems Engineer designation. Smith learned of the implicit covenant of good will and fair dealing in undergraduate business law classes. Jonathon Kessler is a Music Major and Licensed Independent Social Worker who works for the VA and part time for SAVE, Inc. Kessler stated under oath that in responding to Smith’s questions about his conversation with Smith’s HR Director Clint Lucas “ I WASN’T OBLIGATED TO TELL YOU WHAT IT WAS THAT I WAS GOING TO COMMUNICATE OF MORE THAN WHAT YOU SIGNED” .

Smith was transferred to Mr. Kessler by Sarah Gainey Registered Agent of SAVE, Inc. also known as SAVEEAP after two hour long sessions with Ms. Gainey the owner of SAVE. SAVE, Inc., also known as SAVEEAP.COM purports to render confidential Behavioral Health Care Services to Employees through an employer sponsored Employee Assistance Program which was offered as a Fringe Benefit to Employees of Showa Denko. Sarah Gainey was a Certified Employee Assistance Professional. Unknown to Smith at the time services were rendered, Mr. Kessler was not an Employee Assistance Professional during Mr. Smith’s 6 sessions with Mr. Kessler spanning approximately 3 months until Smith was terminated without notice from Showa Denko while under the care of Mr. Kessler.

On December 17, 2015, Smith filed suit against Defendant Kessler as a Pro Se Plaintiff asserting claims for breach of contract, professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Notably, **Defense stated in Memo in support of Summary Judgement that “Plaintiff waived any confidentiality of information communicated by Defendant”**. Plaintiff Smith was granted leave to amend his complaint to include Tortious Interference with prospective business relations, tortious interference with contract, and violations of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. Smith asserted in documents and in court that the issues in this case were matters of basic Law not custom and regardless within the ambit of common knowledge such that no special training was needed for an unbiased trier of fact to assess the facts of this case.

Scott Wallinger, a former South Carolina Prosecutor represented Mr. Kessler. The bench trial was not conducted in the normal order of trial proceeding so that all witnesses with the exception of Defendant and Plaintiff could be heard on the same day and so that the Honorable Trial Judge could attend a funeral during the week. The court expressed its desire to complete the bench trial within three days by Thursday June 8, 2017 despite Plaintiff’s estimate conveyed to the court that at least 4 days would be needed. The trial began at 2PM Monday afternoon and proceeded on Tuesday and Thursday.

Prior to trial plaintiff Smith also filed a Motion in Limine asking the court to exclude testimony from Defendant’s expert witnesses on the grounds that Mr. Kraviloski had offered in his expert affidavit erroneous opinions on matters of Law, specifically Fiduciary Duties in which he is not an expert and has no training and would likely do so at trial. Smith offered extended excerpts from in **SARD v. Hardy as evidence that the fiducial duties Kessler owed to Smith were fixed as a matter of law, not customary practice:**

“....A physician occupies a position of trust and confidence as regards his patient — a fiduciary position. It is his duty to act with the utmost good faith. This duty of the physician **flows from the relationship with his patient and is fixed by law** — not by the contract of employment.

(Later in this brief, Appellant cites extended excerpts from the US Supreme Court in Jaffee v. Redmond which found that the same doctor/patient privilege and confidentiality standards extend to psychotherapists and to social workers.)

In contrast to the above mentioned sources of Law, Defense counsel Wallinger stated on page 580 line 14 of the Official Transcript prepared by Ruth Weese that:

“As to the breach of fiduciary duty cause of action, I would argue that there is no fiduciary duty in the context of a counseling relationship with the **patient** and that the standards of care are set by the sources of information that our expert witness has already identified and also because **EAP services necessarily are providing services to two parties, the employer and the employee**. It is impossible to have a fiduciary duty because you're dealing with more than one person in a fiduciary relationship as such that there is always just the professional and the other.”

Plaintiff also filed a Motion to Compel SAVE, Inc. and Sarah Gainey to produce contracts and documentation of the relationship of SAVE, Mr. Kessler, and Employer Showa Denko and Showa Denko personnel as **Sarah Gainey had refused to bring any documents to her deposition or produce any documents whatsoever despite motions to compel and 2 subpoena signed by the clerk of court.**

At Trial Scott Wallinger argued that Showa Denko was a “CONTRACTUAL, NON-CLINICAL CLIENT OF SAVE IN A DUAL RELATIONSHIP.” No documentation was offered to support Mr. Wallinger’s assertion of this relationship.

The court expressed apparent displeasure with Smith’s self-representation and lack of law degree on several occasions stating that Smith’s self-representation made it impossible for Smith to plead his case dispassionately and needed an attorney to speak on his behalf.

The court stated on Page. 589 line 16:

“Because one of the problems about representing yourself is you cannot do it dispassionately like a lawyer can.”

“That's why it is best to get a lawyer because your lawyer, it's not him. He's the advocate.”

The transcript shows the court frequently interrupted Smith’s questioning of witnesses especially when Smith was questioning John Wing who instigated the mandate that Smith seek counseling at SAVE as a condition of employment and then instigated the termination of Smith while Smith was attending counseling at SAVE with Mr. Kessler.

On page 4 of his “Confidential Work Product in Response to Litigation” Kessler states that on December 18, 2012, after Smith was terminated that he explained to Smith:

"I explained that EAP is neutral and my goal is to promote employer/employee satisfaction and productivity."

Notably during Sworn testimony Mr. Kessler was reluctant to answer Smith's question regarding whether Kessler counseled Smith in a health care setting three times until finally admitting that it was a health care setting.

Page 559 Smith Cross Examining Kessler

A. I'm not a dominant party here. I am sorry. You are putting that expectation on me. I am trying to suggest that's not the dynamic.

Q. Am I a patient of yours in that setting?

A. You are a client.

Q. Is this a health care setting?

A. I'm there -- I was there in the attempt to help you.

Q. Is this a health care setting?

A. It's not a doctor's office.

Q. So is it your testimony this is not a health care setting?

A. It's not a doctor's office.

Q. You are a licensed independent social worker. Can you give me your honest opinion is this a health care setting or not?

A. It could be defined as that I'm sure.

Q. When I came in do you think I assumed it was a health care setting?

A. I do not know what you assumed or did not assume.

Q. Do you believe a reasonable layperson would assume it's a health care setting?

A. To some people it's a place where they go see a shrink. Doesn't mean they are right or wrong.

Q. Are you a shrink?

The Court (The Honorable Judge Young) intervened on behalf of Mr. Kessler without an objection from Scott Wallinger:

The court notably interrupted Smith's questioning of John Wing Smith's former supervisor stating that:

"I guess it's your theory that they [the counselor] can talk to them [employer] if it helps me [patient receiving counseling], but not if it hurts me."

And then subsequently stated: "You can't have it both ways".

As stated later in this brief the **United States Supreme Court in JAFFEE, special administrator for ALLEN, DECEASED v. REDMOND et al. No. 95-266** extended the doctor patient privilege and confidentiality rules to psychotherapists, psychologists and social workers stating “Effective psychotherapy, by contrast, depends upon an atmosphere of confidence and trust in which the patient is willing to make a frank and complete disclosure of facts, emotions, memories, and fears.... **the mere possibility of disclosure may impede development of the confidential relationship necessary for successful treatment.**”

At the close of oral testimony Defense moved for a directed verdict. The court allowed closing arguments to be submitted in writing and adjourned on Thursday afternoon June 8, 2017.

Smith submitted his closing argument carefully addressing issues the Honorable Judge raised on Thursday June 8 with particular emphasis on the reasonable foreseeability of harm, the damage that resulted from Mr. Kessler’s conduct, rebuttal of numerous statements made by Defense Counsel Wallinger, and polite rebuttal of the Honorable Trial Judge’s assertion that John Wing knew nothing about the counseling explaining to the court explaining that the evidence clearly showed that it was John Wing who had initially required Smith to attend counseling with SAVE, Inc. as a condition of employment stating that Smith needed to work on his interpersonal skills and be more of “team player”.

Notably at trial answering Defense Counsel Questioning of Kessler Pg. 540 line 17 Kessler testified that:

Q. So when you spoke to Mr. Lucas on that date you just read from your statement which I think you said was in October?

A. 23.

Q. Right. And told him that your continuing EAP goal was on improving Smith's Interpersonal skills, you are not telling him anything that he didn't already know?

A. That is correct.

Q. What you told him in essence was I'm working on the thing that is the same thing that Smith was referred for?

A. That is correct.

Notably Mr. Kessler stated during direct examination by his attorney Scott Wallinger that in a conversation with Clint Lucas Showa Denko’s HR Manager that occurred on October 23rd, 2012:

"Lucas indicated that Smith still was not forming constructive relationships at employer. Smith was offending people. Smith was talking down to supervisor and coworkers and

Smith was trying to change their system."

NOTABLY REFERRING TO PG. 397 BEGINNING LINE 20 – SMITH QUESTIONING KESSLER:

Q. I AM TRYING TO GET TO THE POINT DID I AGREE TO A PLAN OF TREATMENT OR DID YOU IMPOSE A TREATMENT PLAN UPON ME?

A. I DON'T BELIEVE I IMPOSED A TREATMENT PLAN UPON YOU.

NOTABLY PG. 394 LINE 3 - SMITH QUESTIONING KESSLER:

Q. WHEN WAS THAT DIAGNOSIS DETERMINED?

A. IN THE COURSE OF OUR SESSIONS.

NOTABLY PG. 569 LINE 16 – SMITH QUESTIONING KESSLER:

Q. DID I AGREE ON A COURSE OF TREATMENT WITH YOU?

A. I DON'T RECALL. YOU COULD HAVE WITHDRAWN AND SAID I'M NOT INTERESTED IN PARTICIPATING IN THOSE ANY LONGER. I REQUEST ANOTHER THERAPIST. I REQUEST A REFERRAL FROM THE AGENCY TO ANOTHER AGENCY. YOU DID NONE OF THOSE THINGS.

NOTABLY PG. 571 LINE 8 - IN RESPONSE TO SMITH'S CROSS EXAM OF KESSLER REGARDING THE UNDISCLOSED CONVERSATION WITH CLINT LUCAS ON OCTOBER 23RD, MR. KESSLER, A LICENSED INDEPENDENT SOCIAL WORKER STATED THAT:

"I WASN'T OBLIGATED TO TELL YOU WHAT IT WAS THAT I WAS GOING TO COMMUNICATE OF MORE THAN WHAT YOU SIGNED."

(Notably, Defendant stated in Memo in support of Summary Judgement that *"Plaintiff waived any confidentiality of information communicated by Defendant".*)

Notably there are two versions of SAVE's purportedly HIPAA compliant "release" in evidence. Both have check boxes for release of dates of attendance. Neither have check boxes checked for Treatment Plan. Appellant did not fill out these forms. **Notably no documentation of the relationship among SAVE, Gainey, Kessler, or Showa Denko personnel were ever produced despite Plaintiff's motions to compel and two subpoena's.**

LEGAL SOURCES AND EXCERPTS

HIPAA law specified in 45 CFR § 164.508 (c)(1) published by Department of Health and Human Services pg. 755:

[A valid authorization under this section includes:]

*(i) A description of the information to be used or disclosed that identifies the information in a **specific and meaningful fashion.***

JAFFEE v. REDMOND et al. UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT - June 13, 1996.

Like the spousal and attorney-client privileges, the psychotherapist-patient privilege is "rooted in the imperative need for confidence and trust ...is completely dependent upon [the patients'] willingness and ability to talk freely. This makes it difficult if not impossible for [a psychiatrist] to function without being able to assure . . . patients of confidentiality and, indeed, privileged communication.

Oksana Oleszko, Plaintiff-Appellant, v. State Compensation Insurance Fund, David Howard, and Dora Cooke, Defendants-Appellees. No. 99-15207.

... the necessity of confidentiality in order for EAPs to function effectively, and the importance of protecting this gateway to mental health treatment by licensed psychiatrists, psychologists, and social workers, we hold that the psychotherapist-patient privilege recognized in Jaffee v. Redmond extends to communications with EAP personnel.

SARD v. Hardy, 367 A. 2d 525 - Md: Court of Special Appeals 1976

"....A physician occupies a position of trust and confidence as regards his patient — a fiduciary position. It is his duty to act with the utmost good faith. **This duty of the physician flows from the relationship with his patient and is fixed by law — not by the contract of employment.** The law's exaction of good faith extends to all dealings between the physician and the patient."

SC CODE OF LAWS TITLE 19, CHAPTER 11, SECTION 19-11-95:

(3) "Confidence" is a private communication between a patient and a provider or information given to a provider in the patient provider relationship.

(B) Except when permitted or required by statutory or other law, a provider knowingly may not:

(1) reveal a confidence of his patient;

(2) use a confidence of his patient to the disadvantage of the patient;

(3) use a confidence of his patient for the advantage of himself or of a third person, unless the patient gives written authorization **after disclosure to him of what confidence is to be used and how it is to be used.**

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1) **DID THE HONORABLE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY THE ILLEGALITY EVIDENT IN DEFENDANT KESSLER'S TESTIMONY REGARDING HIS DUTY TO SMITH AS SMITH'S TRUSTED CONFIDANT? *KESSLER: "I WASN'T OBLIGATED TO TELL YOU WHAT IT WAS THAT I WAS GOING TO COMMUNICATE OF MORE THAN WHAT YOU SIGNED."***
- 2) **DID THE HONORABLE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY THE ILLEGALITY OF THIRD PARTY KESSLER'S COMPLICITY WITH EMPLOYER DICTATED DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT PLAN IN THIRD PARTY CONFIDENTIAL COUNSELING OF SMITH WITHOUT SMITH'S CONSENT?**
- 3) **DID THE HONORABLE TRIAL JUDGE AND SOLE FINDER OF FACT ERR IN LIMITING PLAINTIFF'S EXAMINATION OF JOHN WING'S ILLEGAL PERSONAL MOTIVATION WHILE EXHIBITING A MATERIALLY BIASED PRECONCEPTION OF THE COUNSELING RELATIONSHIP PRESUMING DEFENDANT KESSLER'S ROLE WAS ONE OF NEUTRAL MEDIATOR NOT TRUSTED CONFIDANT?**
- 4) **DID THE HONORABLE TRIAL JUDGE, SOLE FINDER OF FACT IN THIS BENCH TRIAL, ERR IN RELYING ON DEFENSE COUNSEL WALLINGER TO DETERMINE FACTS AND LAW AND WRITE THE FINDINGS AND ORDER FOR THE COURT?**
- 5) **DID THE HONORABLE COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT: MR. KESSLER'S INTENTIONAL UNLAWFUL CONDUCT; AFFIRMATION TO SMITH'S HR DIRECTOR CLINT LUCAS OF DIAGNOSIS AND TREATMENT PLAN DICTATED BY A MINORITY OF HOSTILE COWORKERS AT SHOWA DENKO; AND CONCEALMENT OF THE SPECIFIC CONTENT OF THE CONVERSATION KESSLER HAD WITH SMITH'S HR DIRECTOR CLINT LUCAS FOR TWO MONTHS OF COUNSELING UNTIL SMITH WAS TERMINATED WAS THE REASONABLY FORESEEABLE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF DAMAGE TO SMITH'S PROFESSIONAL REPUTATION, SMITH'S LOSS OF \$72,000 IN ANNUAL INCOME, SMITH'S WRONGFUL TERMINATION, AND SMITH'S INELIGIBILITY FOR REHIRE OR CONTRACT WORK AT SHOWA DENKO?**

ARGUMENT

1.) THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO IDENTIFY THE ILLEGALITY EVIDENT IN DEFENDANT KESSLER'S TESTIMONY REGARDING HIS DUTY TO SMITH AS SMITH'S TRUSTED CONFIDANT.

Federal HIPAA 45 CFR § 164.508 [A valid authorization under this section includes:]...(i) *A description of the information to be used or disclosed that identifies the information in a **specific and meaningful** fashion.*

SC CODE OF LAWS TITLE 19, CHAPTER 11 § 19-11-95: "unless the patient gives written authorization **after disclosure to him of what confidence is to be used and how it is to be used.**"

When responding to Smith's question regarding Kessler's **undisputed concealment** of damaging information shared with Kessler by Showa Denko personnel director Clint Lucas for nearly two months of counseling:

Q. You did not inform me of any communication with Clint Lucas; is that correct?

A. It is right here. That is what was communicated. **I wasn't obligated to tell you what it was that I was going to communicate of more than what you signed.**

But in Sworn testimony Sarah Gainey owner of SAVE, Inc. who contracted with Kessler stated:

Pg. 209 line 15 Smith Cross Exam of Sarah Gainey

Q. So do you really know what the word --it is a legal term of art, you are right.

Would it be proper to disclose damaging personal information to an employer even if the employee had signed that release?

A. No, it would not be.

Further, when asked whether Provider Kessler thought that Patient Smith assumed this was a health care setting, Mr. Kessler stated:

"I do not know what you assumed or did not assume."

This sworn statement made under oath in open court shows clearly that there was never a meeting of the minds and that Mr. Kessler did not obtain consent from Patient Smith. Appellant asserts that Kessler intended to mislead Smith as to the nature of the relationship and the nature of the relationship and his overriding allegiance to Showa Denko who Kessler described as a "Long Time Client".

MR. KESSLER NEVER OBTAINED CONSENT DUE TO DECEPTIVE MISREPRESENTATION OF SERVICES AND INADEQUATE DISCLOSURE OF MR. KESSLER'S CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND UNDISCLOSED ALLEGIANCE TO SHOWA DENKO.

Further referring to pg. 570 line 20 of transcript of JONATHAN KESSLER-REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH

Q. And did you believe I could trust – do you believe I can trust you?

A. **I don't know what you believe, whether you could have trusted me or not trusted me.** It appears that you were resistant. You stated in one session that you felt resentful for having to come to these sessions. That's understandable. **Whether or not you believed you could trust me I do not know.** Sometimes it takes many sessions to develop that rapport and trust.

This statement is clear, convincing evidence indicative of Mr. Kessler's untrustworthiness and that **Mr. Kessler did not fulfill his obligations to fully inform Smith his patient before disclosing what confidence is to be used and how it is to be used as required by SC CODE OF LAWS TITLE 19, CHAPTER 11, SECTION 19-11-95.**

Appellant cites excerpts from SOUTH CAROLINA CODE OF LAWS TITLE 19, CHAPTER 11, SECTION 19-11-95:

(3) "Confidence" is a private communication between a patient and a provider or information given to a provider in the patient provider relationship.

(B) Except when permitted or required by statutory or other law, a provider knowingly may not:

(1) reveal a confidence of his patient;

(2) use a confidence of his patient to the disadvantage of the patient;

(3) use a confidence of his patient for the advantage of himself or of a third person, unless the patient gives written authorization **after disclosure to him of what confidence is to be used and how it is to be used.**

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