THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

MAR 28 2018

SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Roger Young, Circuit Court Judge  
Ninth Judicial Circuit

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-001766

---

Tracy Smith,.....Appellant,

v.

Jonathon Kessler .....Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

R. SCOTT WALLINGER, JR.  
[swallinger@collinsandlacy.com](mailto:swallinger@collinsandlacy.com)  
AMY L. NEUSCHAFER  
[aneuschafer@collinsandlacy.com](mailto:aneuschafer@collinsandlacy.com)  
Collins & Lacy, PC  
Post Office Box 12487  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 256-2660 (voice)  
(803) 771-4484 (fax)

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Circuit Court Properly Ruled Smith's Claims are Barred by S.C. Code Ann. §19-11-95**

As an initial matter, Smith fails to address the circuit court's ruling that his claims are barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95. Accordingly, the circuit court's ruling on this issue is the law of the case and requires affirmance. See Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case).

Regardless, the circuit court properly ruled Smith's claims are all barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95. This statute provides "a provider may reveal: (1) confidences with the written authorization of the patient or patients affected, but only after disclosure to them of what confidences are to be revealed and to whom they will be revealed." S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95(C)(1). The statute further provides:

A provider releasing confidences under the written authorization of the patient or under the provisions of this section is not liable to the patient or other person for release of confidence to the person authorized to receive it; provided, however a patient has a cause of action for damages against a provider, associate, agent, employee, or any other person who intentionally, willfully, or with gross negligence violates the provisions of this section.

S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95(H). Kessler, a licensed independent social worker, is a "provider" within the ambit of this statute. See S.C. Code Ann § 19-11-95(A)(1)(c).

The evidence demonstrates Kessler properly obtained Smith's written authorization to disclose the specific information he provided to Showa Denko regarding Smith's counseling sessions. On two (2) separate occasions, September 7 and September 25, 2012, Smith was provided and executed the SAVE Employee Statement of Understanding. This document provides that employees who have been mandated by their supervisor to participate in employee assistance

counseling “acknowledge and accept that the EAP will notify the referring person of the kept or missed appointment and whether a plan to solve the problem has been devised.” (Def. Ex. 6, pp. 19 & 24) (emphasis in original). The next page of the document discusses patient rights under the Health Insurance Portability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”) and advises “[i]f you do not understand these rights or the Statement of Understanding on the reverse side, please ask your therapist to explain them to you before signing.” (Def. Ex. 6, pp. 20 & 25). Smith additionally signed an Authorization for the Release of Protected Health Information before his first session with Kessler. This Authorization explicitly allows Kessler to disclose information regarding Smith’s dates of sessions, progress, recommendations, and compliance/attendance/participation to Clint Lucas of Showa Denko via telephone. (Def. Ex. 6, p. 28).

Kessler reviewed these documents with Smith and testified there was no question in his mind that Smith understood and agreed to the information contained in the documentation. (Tr. p. 532, line 14-p. 533, line 9). Smith asked Kessler no questions regarding the documents. (Tr. p. 201, lines 14-24). Accordingly, there is evidence to support the circuit court’s finding that Smith knowingly and voluntarily executed the Authorization. Furthermore, the evidence shows that Kessler’s communications with Clint Lucas of Showa Denko fell squarely within the limitations imposed by the Authorization. Specifically, Kessler merely notified Clint Lucas of Showa Denko that Smith had attended the first two counseling sessions. (Tr. p. 556, lines 8-22). The Authorization provides Kessler may release information to Lucas regarding Smith’s attendance. (Def. Ex. 6, p. 28). After the conclusion of the October 23 session, Kessler notified Clint Lucas only that Smith was continuing to work on his interpersonal communication skills. (Tr. p. 432, line 21-p. 435, line 25; p. 538, line 24-p. 541, line 9; Pl. Ex. 1, p. 3). This communication was covered by the portion of the Authorization permitting Kessler to communicate with Lucas

regarding Smith's progress. (Def. Ex. 6, p. 28). Moreover, this particular communication revealed nothing more to Lucas than what he already knew—that Smith was in counseling to work on his interpersonal communication skills.

In other words, any confidences Kessler revealed to Showa Denko were revealed only after obtaining a written authorization disclosing to Smith what confidences would be revealed and to whom they would be revealed. Thus, the circuit court's finding that Plaintiff's claims are barred by S.C. Code Ann. § 19-11-95(H) is supported by competent evidence and must be affirmed.

## **II. The Circuit Court Properly Ruled Kessler Was Not a Proximate Cause of Smith's Termination**

Each of the causes of action alleged by Smith require proof that his alleged damages were proximately caused by Kessler's actions. The circuit court ruled with respect to each of Smith's causes of action that he failed to show any acts by Kessler were the proximate cause of Smith's termination from Showa Denko. Rather, the circuit court found Smith was fired by Showa Denko due to his insubordination, actions with which Kessler had nothing to do. (Order). Because evidence exists which reasonably tends to support the trial judge's findings on the issue of causation, judgment in favor of Kessler must be affirmed.

Proximate cause is the efficient or direct cause of an injury or damages and requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause. Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc., 329 S.C. 448, 464-65, 494 S.E.2d 835, 842-43 (Ct. App. 1997). Causation in fact is proved by establishing the alleged injury or damage would not have occurred "but for" the defendant's conduct. Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability and the test of foreseeability is where some injury to another is the natural and probable consequence of the complained-of act. Id.

Here, the only evidence presented regarding the proximate cause of Smith's termination was that Smith was terminated as a result of the culmination of months of interpersonal and

behavioral issues with co-workers and management and a failure to heed the repeated, explicit instructions of his supervisor to stay out of matters pertaining to the company's hardware. Smith offered no evidence that he was terminated as a result of Kessler's action beyond his own bald allegations. Smith's testimony primarily focused on rehashing the issues he had with his co-workers and supervisors in an attempt to demonstrate he was in the right, but did nothing to establish any act by Kessler caused his termination. To the contrary, Smith's direct testimony is replete with references to and discussions concerning the difficulties he was having with his co-workers and supervisors. Smith acknowledged Wing told him he was being terminated for the hardware issues. (Tr. p. 68, lines 15-22). Furthermore, Smith acknowledged that he had previously testified in his deposition that he believed he was fired so another employee could be made an IT manager. (Tr. p. 163, line 18-p. 164, line 4). In short, Smith presented no evidence that any action on the part of Kessler led to Smith's termination.

To the contrary, Smith's supervisor made it abundantly clear that Smith was terminated solely as a result of his own behavior. Specifically, Wing testified that Showa Denko decided to terminate Smith's employment due to Smith's insubordination in contacting and holding a meeting with a hardware vendor in direct contravention of Wing's instructions. (Tr. p. 329, line 1-p. 330, line 7; Def. Ex. 17). This decision came after months of interpersonal conflicts with co-workers and repeated refusals to follow Wing's instructions that Smith was not to involve himself with hardware matters. (Tr. p. 316, lines 15-18; p. 329, line 1-p. 330, line 25; p. 332, line 16-p. 333, line 25; Def. Ex. 17). Wing further testified he had never communicated with Kessler and was not familiar with the substance of Smith's counseling sessions. Wing explicitly testified the decision to terminate Smith had nothing to do with SAVE or Kessler. (Tr. p. 378, line 21-p. 379, line 10).

Accordingly, because there is evidence which reasonably tends to support the trial judge's finding of no proximate cause, the judgment must be affirmed.

### **III. The Circuit Court Properly Found for Kessler on Each of Smith's Causes of Action**

Smith alléges causes of action for breach of contract, professional negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference with business relations, tortious interference with contract, and violation of the SCUTPA. As discussed in Section II, above, the circuit court properly found that no actions on the part of Kessler proximately caused Smith's termination. However, even assuming sufficient evidence of proximate cause exists, as discussed below, the circuit court properly found Smith had not proven the remaining elements of each cause of action asserted.

#### **a. Breach of Contract**

The circuit court found Smith had no contract with Kessler and even assuming a contract existed, Smith failed to prove any damages recoverable for breach of contract. To recover for a breach of contract, the plaintiff must prove: 1) a binding contract entered into by the parties; 2) breach of unjustifiable failure to perform; and 3) damages suffered as a direct and proximate result of the breach. Fuller v. Eastern Fire & Casualty Ins. Co., 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962).

As found by the circuit court, there is no evidence of a contract between Smith and Kessler. If Smith had any contract relating to the provision of employee assistance counseling, such contract was with SAVE, the entity to whom he was referred for such counseling, and not Kessler. Furthermore, Smith failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that any contract with Kessler was breached. As described above, the only testimony was that Kessler's disclosures to Showa Denko complied with the Authorization given by Smith. Finally, Smith failed to present any evidence of damages recoverable in contract. He provided no evidence regarding economic

damages<sup>5</sup> and in fact, Smith's only testimony regarding damages was that he was emotionally distressed by his termination. It is well-established that damages for emotional distress are not recoverable in contract. See Whitten v. American Mut. Liability Ins. Co., 468 F. Supp. 470, 473 (D.S.C. 1977). Accordingly, because evidence exists to support the circuit court's rulings regarding Smith's breach of contract claim, such rulings must be affirmed.

**b. Professional Negligence**

The circuit court found Smith's professional negligence claim was barred by his failure to present expert testimony regarding the applicable standard of care. To establish a professional negligence claim, the plaintiff must show: (1) the generally recognized and accepted practices and procedures that would be followed by average, competent practitioners under the same or similar circumstances; (2) that the defendant departed from the recognized and generally accepted standards; and (3) that the defendant's departure from such generally-recognized practices and procedures was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's alleged injuries and damages. David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr., 367 S.C. 242, 248, 626 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2006). The plaintiff must provide expert testimony to establish both the required standard of care and the defendant's failure to conform to that standard, unless the subject matter lies within the ambit of common knowledge so that no special learning is required to evaluate the conduct of the defendant. Id.; see also Gilliland v. Elmwood Props., 301 S.C. 295, 301, 391 S.E.2d 577, 580 (1990); Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc., 351 S.C. 459, 472, 570 S.E.2d 197, 203 (Ct.

---

<sup>5</sup> Smith presumably recognizes this failure to present evidence of economic damages, as in his Brief, he makes assertions regarding the amount of his lost salary (Appellant's Brief, pp. 47 & 50). However, no such evidence or testimony was presented to the circuit court. Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. Partnership, 359 S.C. 505, 598 S.E.2d 712 (2004) (it is well settled that, but for a very few exceptional circumstances, an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court).

App. 2002). A lay witness cannot testify as to the standard of care or any deviations therefrom. See Rule 701, SCRE.

As an initial matter, the standard of care applicable to a licensed clinical social worker performing employee assistance counseling is not a matter of common knowledge. Assessing the pertinent standard of care involves issues of confidentiality and proper counseling techniques and approaches, which require special learning, training, or experience. Cf. Sharpe v. South Carolina Dept. of Mental Health, 292 S.C. 11, 14, 354 S.E.2d 778, 780 (Ct. App. 1987) (holding standard of care and proper treatment of a mental patient is not within common knowledge). Smith has presented no competent evidence, through either expert testimony or otherwise, which addresses the issue of the applicable standard of care with regard to his psychological care and treatment, any breach of the applicable standard of care, or any damages proximately resulting therefrom. Because Smith has failed to provide expert testimony with respect to these required elements, the circuit court properly found that any claim for professional negligence arising out of the provision of employee assistance counseling by Kessler must fail.

Kessler, on the other hand, did in fact present expert testimony demonstrating the applicable standard of care and his compliance. The testimony of licensed clinical social worker, Krasilovsky, as well as that of Sarah Gainey, demonstrates Kessler complied with the standard of care with regards to his provision of employee assistance counseling to Smith. (Tr. p. 254, line 16-p. 260, line 24; p. 178, line 23-p. 179, line 3). Krasilovsky further opined Kessler owed no duty to obtain a “peer consultation” or refer Smith to other clinicians, legal counsel, or government agencies for further assistance. (Tr. p. 257, lines 10-24). Therefore, the circuit court’s rulings regarding Smith’s professional negligence claim are supported by the evidence and must be affirmed.

At various points in his Brief, Smith references portions of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) (Brief, pp. 11, 16, & 40). However, these arguments are not preserved for appellate review because they were not ruled on by the circuit court. See Lucas, 359 S.C. 505, 598 S.E.2d 712 (issue raised to but not ruled upon by trial judge is not preserved for review). Regardless, Smith’s arguments concerning HIPAA are without merit. HIPAA does not provide for a private civil cause of action. See Webb v. Smart Document Solutions, LLC, 499 F.3d 1078, 1080 (9th Cir. 2007); Acara v. Banks, 470 F.3d 569, 571-72 (5th Cir. 2006).

**c. Breach of Fiduciary Duty**

The circuit court found Smith failed to prove any breach of fiduciary duty. To establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, a plaintiff must prove: (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty, (2) a breach of that duty, and (3) damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct of Defendant. Turpin v. Lowther, 404 S.C. 581, 745 S.E.2d 397, 401 (Ct. App. 2013). A fiduciary relationship exists when a person places special trust or confidence in another. See, e.g., O’Shea v. Lesser, 308 S.C. 10, 15, 416 S.E.2d 629, 631 (1992).

Even assuming a fiduciary relationship existed between Smith and Kessler, there is no evidence that Kessler breached any fiduciary duty with respect to the provision of employee assistance counseling to Smith. As discussed previously, the evidence demonstrates all Kessler’s communications with Clint Lucas of Showa Denko fell within the confines of the Authorization executed by Smith allowing disclosure of attendance and progress. (Tr. p. 432, line 21-p. 435, line 25; p. 538, line 24-p. 541, line 9; p. 556, lines 8-22; Def. Ex. 6, p. 28). In addition, Krasilovsky’s expert testimony was that Kessler breached no duty in his treatment of Smith and that he had no duty to refer Kessler to other clinicians, legal counsel, or government agencies for further assistance. (Tr. p. 254, line 16-p. 260, line 24; p. 178, line 23-p. 179, line 3). Therefore,

the circuit court's decision that Smith failed to establish a breach of fiduciary duty by a preponderance of the evidence is supported by the evidence and must be affirmed.

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